# FILED

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SID J. WHITE

JUL 22 1997

RYAN J. URBIN,

Appellant,

CLERK, SUPPEME COURT

Dig Object Disputy Clean

v.

CASE NO. 89,433

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

#### INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

NADA M. CAREY
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE
SUITE 401
301 SOUTH MONROE STREET
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301
(904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT FLA. BAR NO. 0648825

#

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

#### Guilt Phase

This case involves a robbery "gone bad." Jason Hicks, 22, was shot three times in the parking lot of Harley's Rack and Cue around 2:45 a.m. on September 1, 1995. Two weeks later, Ryan Urbin, 17, Craig Flatebo, 18, and Jason Ambrose, 18, were arrested for Hicks' murder.

Flatebo and Ambrose agreed to testify against Ryan in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>The trial judge's sentencing order is attached as Appendix A.

exchange for guilty pleas to second-degree murder and a waiver of the sentencing guidelines. T 574-577, 603, 619-620, 643. Flatebo pled guilty to an unrelated home robbery and agreed to testify against Ryan in that case as well. T 574-577, 603.

According to Flatebo, he, Ryan, and Ambrose were at a party at Steve Devore's when Ambrose proposed they commit a robbery. They went to Harley's because the patrons gambled and were likely to have cash. The plan was for Ryan to rob the first person who walked out the door. T 579-581. Ambrose was the driver and Flatebo, who rode in the back, was there just "to be along." T 583. Ryan had several guns in a book bag, which they placed in the trunk. The first person who walked out of Harley's got in his car before they could rob him. They followed him for a while in their car, but when he pulled up behind a police car, they drove by and on back to Harley's. T 584. Ryan went inside for a few minutes. After Ryan came back out, Ambrose retrieved the guns from the trunk and gave them to Ryan. T 586-588. Flatebo and Ambrose told Ryan they would meet him at a friend's house behind Harley's. T 589. The victim, Jason Hicks, came out of Harley's, and Ryan followed him, carrying a .357.

Ambrose and Flatebo drove around the block and were starting to park when they heard three shots. They drove off and spotted

Ryan running through the Burger King parking lot behind Harley's. T 590-591. Ryan jumped in the car and told them to drive. He kept saying the guy "shouldn't have bucked," meaning should not have resisted. T 592. He said he followed the guy to his car and told him to remove his jewelry. After the guy removed his jewelry, Ryan put him on the ground and grabbed his pocket. Then the guy turned over and started kicking, trying to kick Ryan's legs out from under him. The guy was bucking and saw his face so he had to shoot him. T 593-594. They drove to Shana Smith's apartment afterwards. Ryan told them to keep quiet, that no one had seen him. T 598.

On cross-examination, Flatebo said he was 6'2", 190 pounds. He had tatoos on his leg, arm, back, and stomach, but they would not have shown that night. He denied agreeing with Ambose to blame the shooting on Ryan. He denied shooting Hicks himself. T 608-609. He told detectives he did not know anything about the Hicks' murder when first arrested. He did not tell them about it until the following day. T 613. Flatebo admitted he was the one who got Hicks' jewelry, a gold Gucci necklace, a bulldog charm, and a diamond horseshoe ring. T 606. He admitted calling Michelle Bennett and asking her to get rid of the gun. T 617.

Ambrose told the same basic story as Flatebo, T 623-633,

except Ambrose said both Flatebo and Ryan had guns. T 638.

Ambrose said he lied on September 11 when he said he was at home the night Hicks was shot. He told the truth when he was arrested September 18, same as today. T 634-635.

On cross-examination, Ambrose said he was 5'9", 155 pounds, and had tatoos on each ankle and one on his hand. T 636. He denied getting together with Flatebo to pin the murder on Ryan.

Steven Mann also testified against Ryan, in exchange for a maximum sentence of 16.75 months for two burglaries. T 665-667. Mann said he was Ryan's best friend. Mann was at Steve Devore's party before the robbery and heard Ryan, Ambrose, and Flatebo talking about going to rob someone. T 671. Later that weekend, Mann went with Steve Devore, Larry Motley, and Ryan to Ft. Myers. Mann asked Ryan what happened at Harley's. Ryan said he put Hicks on the ground with a gun, grabbed his pockets, and felt a wad of money. When he reached for the money, Hicks raised his hand up and Ryan shot him once in the head and twice in the chest. He did not take the money because there was no time. He did not mention taking any jewelry. He said he shot Hicks because he bucked, or resisted. T 673-575.

Raymond Graham was inside Harley's when he heard gunshots.

He looked out the glass doors and saw a white man running across

the parking lot. T 523. The man was about two car lengths away. The lighting outside was real bright. Graham had not been drinking. T 526, 529. Graham saw the man for no more than 3-4 seconds and only from the side view. The man he saw was 5'7"-5'8", slim build, real thin face, and sandy blond hair cut short on the sides. T 524-525. Graham identified Ryan in court as the man he saw running across the parking lot. T 526. Graham had picked Ryan out of a photo lineup on September 19, but only after looking at the pictures several times. T 531, 537. Graham did not remember telling Officer Lemon at the scene that the man he saw was 5'11"-6'0", weighed 185-190 pounds, was wearing a green shirt, and had light hair. T 533. Graham remembered saying the man weighed at least 140-145 pounds. T 534.

Jason Hicks sustained two fatal gunshot wounds to his chest. One shot pierced his left palm, then his chest; the other shot went directly into his chest. A third nonfatal shot entered his right shoulder. All the wounds were consistent with having been made while his back was pressed onto a hard surface, like an asphalt parking lot. T 563-569.

Detective Bolena interviewed Ryan on September 18. T 649.

At first, Ryan denied going to Harley's that night. T 655.

Bolena then told Ryan that Harley's daughter had seen him there

at 2:30 a.m. and the video camera had filmed him around that time. This was a trick to get Ryan to confess. Ryan said he remembered going to Harley's for about five minutes but did not see anything. T 657-658. When arrested, Ryan was 5'7", 135 pounds. T 659.

Ryan testified in his own defense. He said he had lived most of his life in Jacksonville with his mother, Helene Urbin. He had visited his natural father in Wyoming only once for a few months. T 714-715. He dropped out of high school in eighth grade and took up a trade at Southside Skills Center. His brother, Mark Wirth, was 26. His mother was presently incarcerated at Florida State Prison. T 716. His mother had been in prison previously for drug trafficking beginning in 1989 for 22 months. T 771, 722. Ryan had used drugs himself, including cocaine, marijuana, L.S.D., barbiturates, and alcohol. T 722. While his mother was in prison, Ryan lived in her house with his brother and his mother's boyfriend. He was a firstdegree welder and did a number of welding jobs for his mother. He also had worked at fast food restaurants and done projects for his school. T 717. He had three felony convictions. T 718.

At the time of the shooting, Ryan was renting a room from George Anthony in Arlington. T 719. He had known Steve Mann for

three or four years, Craig Flatebo for six months to a year, and Jason Ambrose for a day or two. T 718, 720. Ryan had been going to Harley's for about a year and knew the owner, Mr. Harley, and his daughter. He had seen Jason Hicks a few times. T 721.

The night of the shooting, Ryan left Steve Devore's house around 1 a.m. with Flatebo and Ambrose. Flatebo had numerous weapons in a back pack, which may have been put in the trunk. Ambrose drove, Flatebo sat up front, Ryan was in the back. They parked in front of Harley's. T 725. Ryan went inside to buy marijuana but did not see the person he was looking for. T 727-728. He used the bathroom, walked back outside, and got into the back seat of Ambrose's car. T 728. Ambrose got the backpack out of the trunk and gave it to Flatebo, who pulled out a black .357 with orange cites on it. They were talking about robbing the next person out the door and wanted Ryan to drive the car. Ryan told them he could not drive a stick shift. T 731. A man came out of Harley's but got to his car too quickly for Flatebo to rob him. They drove after him for a while, then drove back to Harley's. On the way back, they put the guns back in the trunk. T 732-733. Ambrose got the guns out again after they parked. Ambrose gave Flatebo the .357 with orange cites on it and kept a small .38, or revolver, caliber gun for himself. They asked Ryan

again if he could drive, and he said no. They drove to the Burger King and parked. T 735-736. They told him to wait in the car. They walked through the parking lot and climbed a little brick wall into the back yard of Harley's. Four or five minutes later, Ryan heard three gunshots. Ambrose came running back to the car, with Flatebo behind him. They both had pistols in their hands. Flatebo had the black pistol. They were very anxious and paranoid. T 738-739.

Ambrose drove to Shana and Misty's house. Ambrose went right inside. Flatebo and Ryan sat in the parking lot and talked. Flatebo said he robbed someone and the guy bucked and he had shot and killed him. T 740. He had a necklace with a lion or bulldog charm, a horseshoe ring, and a wedding band. He handed Ryan the victim's wallet but Ryan did not look at it. T 741. Flatebo said he did not get any money because he was in the process of getting it when the guy bucked and he shot him. T 742.

Ryan and Flatebo spent the night at Shana's. Flatebo's girlfriend, Jennifer Jewel, picked them up in the morning and took them to Flatebo's house. Ryan walked around the corner to his house. Ryan saw the necklace and bulldog on Flatebo many times after that. T 743.

A day or two later, Ryan went with Steve Devore, Steve Mann, and Larry Motley to Ft. Myers. He took two guns, a pure black .357 with a wood grain handle and a .38 Smith and Wesson. The .38 was in the car the night of the shooting. Ryan sold the .357 to a friend of Steve Devore's in Ft. Myers. T 745-746.

Ryan said he did not shoot Jason Hicks. Nor did he tell anyone he had shot Hicks. Flatebo's and Ambrose's testimony that he was the shooter was "a bold face lie." Although Mann kept asking him "what happened, what happened," Ryan told him he did not know anything. T 747-748.

On cross-examination, Ryan admitted he was very intoxicated the night of the shooting. T 752, 755, 757. He denied blaming the shooting on Flatebo to retaliate against Flatebo for testifying against him in the home robbery case. T 759. He denied asking Joey Koller, Steve Roberts, and Darren Adams to lie for him. He said Roberts told him he knew Flatebo was lying. He denied telling Koller and Adams his story at trial was going to be what he had said today except he was going to say he gave Flatebo the .357 before the shooting. He denied telling Roberts he was going to kill Flatebo for ratting on him. T 763-765.

Detective Lemmon testified he interviewed Raymond Graham immediately after the shooting. Graham told Lemmon the man he

saw in the parking lot was 5'11"-6'0", 185-190 pounds. T 769.

Detective Bolena said he recovered the .357 Ryan sold in Ft. Myers, but the murder weapon was never recovered. T 775-776.

In rebuttal, Detective Bolena said Raymond Graham described the man he saw as 5'8"-5'10", slender build, thin face, hair thick on top, thin on the sides, and sandy blond. Graham told Bolena he would probably recognize the man if he saw him again.

Jason Ambrose had a close, flat top when he was arrested. T 781-782.

Raymond Graham took the stand, and Ambrose and Flatebo were brought into the courtroom. Graham said Ambrose's face was different from that of the man in the parking lot. Flatebo was taller and darker and his face did not match. The man Graham saw did not have a flat top. Graham admitted he did not pick Urbin out of the picture showup until the second or third viewing. T 831-833.

Steve Roberts, Darren Adams, and Joey Koller testified that Ryan had asked them to lie and to say Flatebo confessed to shooting Hicks. They told this lie to Ryan's attorney.

Steve Roberts was in jail for dealing in stolen property.

Roberts testified that everything he told Ryan's defense attorney regarding Flatebo's confession was a lie. Roberts also said Ryan

had said he wanted to kill Flatebo because Flatebo was going to testify against him. T 783-786. On cross-examination, Roberts admitted he drove Flatebo to Jason Hicks' grave and, at the grave site, told Flatebo he wanted him to see where "the guy he put away" was resting. Roberts denied telling Flatebo, "Why don't you take the pool table, you took his life?", referring to the miniature pool table on Hicks' grave. Roberts said Flatebo gave his girlfriend Hicks' jewelry. T 796-797. Roberts said he lied to Ryan's attorney because Flatebo had tstified against his friend Jodi Dameron in the home robbery case. T 790.

On redirect, Roberts said Ryan told him he would not be facing the electric chair but for Ambrose and Flatebo. Roberts asked Ryan how he ended up with Ambrose and Flatebo and asked Ryan if he did it. Then he stopped and said, "Don't tell me." T 802-803.

Darren Adams was in jail for dealing in stolen property and burglary. He and Ryan had been friends for four years. Adams testified that Ryan asked him to lie by saying Flatebo had confessed. Ryan told Adams what his testimony would be. T 804-806.

Joey Koller and Ryan had been friends for five years.

Koller was in jail for dealing in stolen property. He had pled

guilty and agreed to testify against Ryan in exchange for a maximum sentence of 10 years. T 814. In May or June, Ryan told Koller Flatebo was going to testify against him and asked Koller to help by saying Flatebo had admitted being the triggerman.

Ryan told Koller what his testimony would be. T 815. Koller said he changed his mind about testifying when his lawyer told him he could get another 30 years if he got caught on a perjury charge. T 717-718. Koller told Ryan he was not going to testify because he was afraid he could not pass a lie detector test.

Ryan said not to worry about it, he could not pass one either.

Koller responded "that means Flatebo did not shoot Jason," and Ryan just said, "you take it from there." T 819-820.

#### Penalty Phase

Assistant state attorney Tatiana Radi testified that Ryan was convicted of armed robbery, armed burglary, and armed kidnapping on April 24, 1996, in connection with a home robbery committed September 13, 1995, two weeks after Jason Hicks was shot. The evidence at trial showed that Ryan, Craig Flatebo, and Jody Dameron drove to a home in the Arlington section of Jacksonville. Flatebo waited in the car while Ryan and Dameron went to the door with guns drawn and knocked. Bonnie Sue Hilton opened the door, and Ryan put a gun to her face and his hands

over her eyes and pushed her inside. They tied her up, then ransacked the house, taking jewelry, guns, and food. Ryan told her they would kill her if she called the police. T 985-989.

Five victim impact statements were read to the jury.

Belinda and Russell Smith, long-time friends and neighbors of

Jason Hicks, read their own statements. Belinda told the jury

Jason was "unique," hard-working, "a sensitive, giving person."

She spoke of his determination to be a professional pool player

and travel the world, his love of music, and how protective and

giving he was with his sister, Becky, who had been hit by a drunk

driver in 1992 and suffered brain damage as a result. She told

the jury Jason's mother had suffered a nervous breakdown and was

on antidepressants and that "Jason is missed by everyone and his

death is a great loss in the community." T 993-994.

Russell Smith told the jury that in the 20 years he had known Jason, not once had he ever intentionally hurt anyone. He described Jason Hicks as "my brother," "kind, patient, passive, humorous, and generous." He and Jason had planned a fishing trip with their fathers, and "two weeks later he was gone." Russell spoke to Jason: "If you are listening Jason, we all love you dearly and we will never stop." T 995-996.

The prosecutor told the jury Russell Smith would read

Imogene Carter's statement because Carter was "emotionally unable to read it." T 997. Carter was Jason Hicks' great aunt. Her statement described how happy the family was the day Jason was born, his love of racing bikes and pool and his dream of becoming a professional pool player. Now that Jason was gone, his parents had no one who could care for Becky if something should happen to them. T 997-998.

The prosecutor then asked Russell Smith to read Becky Smith's statement because Becky was "unable to read it for emotional reasons." Becky's statement described how caring Jason was when she was in the hospital after her accident, how he taught her to play pool, and how much she missed him. T 998-999.

The prosecutor then asked Mr. Smith to read Penny Hicks' statement because she, too, was "unable to read her statement for emotional reasons." Penny Hicks was Jason's mother. Her statement told the jury about Jason's love of all sports, bike racing, and pool. He worked for the family asphalt business and was an exceptionally hard worker. With Jason's death, they no longer had anyone to carry the family name and would never have grandchildren. Mrs. Hicks's statement described the last time she and her husband saw Jason alive. The murder had devastated the entire family and she had to take double doses of medication

just to get through the day. She missed her son telling her he loved her. T 999-1001.

Dr. Ernest Miller, a psychiatrist, testified he had examined Ryan and reviewed a lengthy letter authored by Ryan's mother desribing some of Ryan's problems. T 1004-1005, R 292-302. Dr. Miller was particularly struck by the dysfunction of Ryan's background. Ryan had been abandoned by his father, and there was no father surrogate or male role model for him. His mother frequently was absent, and Ryan was left to roam the streets with little or no guidance. Consequently, his role models were dissocial, criminal peers. T 1005.

Ryan suffered from anxiety, depression, and substance abuse disorder. He was addicted to both drugs, particularly to powder cocaine and LSD, and alcohol. T 1006. In Dr. Miller's opinion, the abandonment, neglect, and abuse Ryan suffered were the source of his anxiety and depression, which he then tried to ameliorate with drugs. T 1007. He took drugs to relieve his pain and change his mood from melancholy or depression to elation. The price he paid was hampered judgment, the inability to make reasonable decisions, and loss of self-control. Miller testified that drug addiction results in impulsivity. That is, the drug addict does only what he must do to perpetuate and maintain

access to the drug supply. This became the driving and dominant feature of Ryan's behavior. T 1007-1009.

In Dr. Miller's opinion, Ryan's drug addiction was treatable, and absent drugs and alcohol, Ryan was not likely to revert to criminal behavior. T 1009-1010.

Dr. Miller also testified that Ryan was adjusting well to jail. T 1010. He was of average intelligence and knew right from wrong when he committed the offense. T 1012. Given the plan to rob and its purposeful execution, Ryan was not insane at the time of the murder, nor was he incapable of premeditation. 1015. Drugs and alcohol would have diminished his ability to conform his behavior to the requirements of the law, however. 1013. For example, the use of drugs and alcohol the night of the homicide would have impaired Ryan's thought processes in reacting to the victim's resistance to the robbery. T 1016, 1017. Dr. Miller based his opinion on his interview with Ryan and Helene Urbin's letter detailing a pattern of drug abuse from and early age which led her to put Ryan in Charter for drug treatment. T In Dr. Miller's opinion "in best medical probability, [] the [murder] would not have occurred absent the influence of some clandestine substance or alcohol in his system, which affected his thinking and behavior." T 1020.

Patrick Grant, age 27, testified he had known Ryan since
Ryan was about twelve years old. Grant tried to be an older
brother to Ryan. Grant had counseled him to stay away from drugs
and alcohol and continue his education, but Ryan was addicted.
When not drinking, Ryan was nice and respectful. T 1021-1017.

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