FILED

SID J. WHITE

OCT 27 1997

CLERK, SURREME COURT
By
Chief Deputy Clerk

RYAN J. URBIN,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 89,433

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

BARBARA J. YATES ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 293237

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3584

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

Breedlove v. State, 413 So.2d 1, 8 (Fla.), cert. denied, 459 U.S. 882 (1982) (quoting <u>Darden v. State</u>, 329 So.2d 287, 289 (Fla. 1976), cert. denied, 430 U.S. 704 (1977)) (citations omitted). Moreover, reversal is inappropriate if any error that occurred was harmless. State v. Murray, 443 So.2d 955 (Fla. 1984). Instead, "it is the duty of appellate courts to consider the record as a whole and to ignore harmless error, including most constitutional violations." Id. at 956. This is so because fundamental error occurs only if the "error committed was so prejudicial as to vitiate the entire trial." Id. Applying those principles to this case, it is obvious that no reversible error occurred.

1. <u>Inflammatory Rhetoric</u>

Urbin first complains that the prosecutor's using words such as "execution," "brutal," "vicious," "ruthless," and "cold-blooded"

to describe this murder was inappropriate because "the shooting occurred during a scuffle in response to the victim's resistance to the robbery." (Initial brief at 29). This thinly veiled attempt to blame the victim for his own death does not make the prosecutor's statements any less than fair comment on the evidence. This was an unprovoked armed robbery. Urbin could have run away when the victim resisted. Instead, he shot the victim - not just once, but three times. Urbin fired the last two shots while the victim was on his back on the ground. (VI 567-69). The victim also had lacerations and bruises on his face that were consistent with being struck in the face with a pistol. (VI 571). murder was, in truth, a brutal, vicious, cold-blooded execution, and the prosecutor committed no error in calling it what it was. If this Court decides that the prosecutor erred, however, any error would be harmless. Cf. Davis v. State, 22 Fla.L.Weekly S331, S333 (Fla. June 5, 1997) (characterizing murder as "brutal" and "vicious" not error in light of the evidence); Bonifay v. State, 680 So.2d 413, 418 (Fla. 1996) (harmless error for prosecutor to use word "exterminate"); Jones v. State, 652 So.2d 346, 352 (Fla. 1995) ("assassination" was a reasonable characterization of the murder), cert. denied, 116 S.Ct. 202 (1996); Burr v. State, 566 So.2d 1051, 1054 (Fla.) (saying that Burr "executes" people was fair comment on the evidence), cert. denied, 474 U.S. 879 (1985); see also Tison v. Arizona, 481 U.S. 137, 151 (1987) ("the

possibility of bloodshed is inherent in the commission of any violent felony and this possibility is generally foreseeable and foreseen; it is one principal reason that felons arm themselves.").

2. Mischaracterization of Evidence

Urbin claims that the evidence does not support the prosecutor's statements regarding the victim's pleading for his life. The medical examiner testified that the first shot went through the victim's left hand, while that hand was raised palm up, and into the victim's chest while the victim was lower than Urbin, i.e., either kneeling or lying on the ground. (VI 560-65). The prosecutor's comment that the victim pled with Urbin not to shoot was a logical inference from the evidence. The prosecutor did not ask the jurors to put themselves in the victim's shoes or to imagine his suffering. See Walker v. State, 22 Fla.L.Weekly S537 (Fla. Sept. 4, 1997); Garron v. State, 528 So.2d 353 (Fla. 1988). Instead, the prosecutor merely submitted his view of the evidence to the jurors for their consideration.

3. Trivializing Jurors' Responsibility

Urbin claims that the prosecutor trivialized the jurors' job at sentencing by telling them it was "not a difficult process."

This statement came during the following argument.

Our purpose here today is to consider - for you to consider what punishment to recommend to Judge Wilkes that the defendant should get for executing Jason Hicks. The

final decision is not made by you, it's made by Judge Wilkes. It's not a difficult process. The jury makes a recommendation. That recommendation must be given great weight by the judge. But the judge, after he receives your recommendation, will decide what the final sentence will be.

(X 1122-23). As the prosecutor stated, the jury's recommendation is advisory, and the trial judge will consider that recommendation in imposing sentence. The trial court instructed the jury, properly and without objection, on its duty and responsibility in arriving at a recommended sentence. (X 1163-68). The prosecutor's choice of words may have been inartful, but it did not constitute fundamental error.

4. "Higher Authority" Argument

Urbin states that it was improper for the prosecutor to imply "that he, or another higher authority, has already made the careful decision" to seek the death penalty in this case. (Initial brief at 31). Seeking the death penalty in any particular case is a matter of prosecutorial discretion. Telling the jury that and that the instant case warranted the death penalty was a proper comment. That the prosecutor may have offered Urbin a plea agreement at some point in time is irrelevant.

5. Misstatement of Law Regarding Mercy

Urbin next complains that the prosecutor erred by telling the jury that "if sufficient aggravating factors are proved beyond a

reasonable doubt, you <u>must</u> recommend a sentence of death, unless the mitigating circumstances outweigh the aggravating circumstances." (X 1125, emphasis supplied). Given the conditional "if" and "unless," the state does not concede that this statement was erroneous. Even if it were error, however, the statement was made only one time, and the court properly instructed the jury on weighing aggravators and mitigators. (X 1165-67). Any error, therefore, was harmless. <u>Cf. Henyard v. State</u>, 689 So.2d 239, 250 (Fla. 1996) (harmless error where prosecutor told prospective jurors three times that jurors must recommend death if aggravators outweigh mitigators); <u>see also Wuornos v. State</u>, 644 So.2d 1000 (Fla. 1994), <u>cert. denied</u>, 514 U.S. 1069 (1995).

6. Misleading Jury Regarding Merged Aggravators

Urbin complains that the prosecutor should not have told the jury that the felony murder/pecuniary gain aggravator was especially weighty. The prosecutor did tell the jury that these two aggravators merged into one, and the trial court gave a merger instruction specifically about the felony murder and pecuniary gain aggravators. (X 1165). In weighing aggravators and mitigators, each factor must be assigned a qualitative weight. Slawson v. State, 619 So.2d 255 (Fla. 1993), cert. denied, 512 U.S. 1246 (1994). Telling the jury that killing someone during an armed robbery committed for pecuniary gain is a weighty aggravator is fair comment, not error.

7. Denigration of Mitigators

Urbin claims that the state improperly denigrated his proposed mitigators as excuses. Mitigators are "factors that in fairness or in the totality of the defendant's life or character may be considered as extenuating or reducing the degree of moral culpability for the crime committed." Rogers v. State, 511 So.2d 526, 534 (Fla. 1987), cert. denied, 484 U.S. 1020 (1988); Consalvo v. State, 697 So.2d 805 (Fla. 1996). "Extenuate" is defined as "to lessen or to try to lessen the real or apparent seriousness (as of a crime, offense, or fault) or extent of (guilt) by making partial excuses . . . or by affording a basis for excuses . . . MITIGATE (2): to make partial excuses for: to try to justify (as by making partial excuses)." Webster's 3d New International Dictionary (1981) at 805 (emphasis added). By introducing his proposed mitigators, Urbin sought to give reasons for his killing the victim and to excuse his actions so that the jury would not recommend and the judge would not impose a death sentence. The proposed mitigators were "excuses," and the prosecutor did not err by giving them their proper name.

Urbin objected neither to these comments nor to the court's instructions on how mitigating evidence was to be considered. Even if this Court were to hold that prosecutors should not use the word "excuse," any error would be harmless, not fundamental. <u>See James v. State</u>, 695 So.2d 1229, 1234 (Fla. 1997); <u>Jones</u>, 652 So.2d at

352; Mann v. State, 603 So.2d 1141, 1143 (Fla. 1992); Valle v. State, 581 So.2d 40, 46-47 (Fla. 1991); Lucas v. State, 568 So.2d 18, 21 (Fla. 1990); Pardo v. State, 563 So.2d 77, 79 (Fla. 1990). The cases that Urbin relies on, Garron; Rilev v. State, 560 So.2d 279 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990); and Russo v. State, 505 So.2d 611 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987), are not apposite. In Garron and Russo the appellate courts found reversible error in the state's questioning the validity of an insanity defense as a defense to murder during the guilt phase. In Riley the appellate court reversed because the state ridiculed Riley's defense of self-defense, also at the quilt phase. Here, the prosecutor did not attack the principles of mitigating circumstances, he merely argued that Urbin's evidence did not ameliorate the enormity of his guilt. The instant case, thus, is not comparable to Garron, Riley, and Russo. See James; Wuornos; Pardo. Urbin's claim that the state did not contradict the evidence he presented (initial brief at 36 n.8) ignores the testimony elicited on cross-examination.

8. Attack on Defense Witness

Urbin next complains that the prosecutor denigrated his mother's testimony. Although Urbin's mother tried to take some of the blame for Urbin turning out like he did (X 1074), she also blamed Urbin's father (i.e., X 1066), her boyfriend and Urbin's brother (i.e., X 1065-66), Urbin's friends (i.e., X 1067-70), and her mother. (I.e., X 1074). She also admitted that she was a

twice-convicted felon, the more recent conviction being for her tampering with a witness in her son's home-invasion case. 1083). Although Ms. Urbin stated that she was "devastated" by the victim's death (X 1096), she admitted that she never expressed her concern to the victim's family. (X 1097). The complained-about comments were supported by the evidence. They reflected the prosecutor's view of the testimony and were made in the context of assisting the jury in determining Ms. Urbin's credibility. such, the comments were not error, let alone fundamental error that could provide relief, given Urbin's lack of objection. Cf. <u>Shellito v. State</u>, 22 Fla.L.Weekly S554, S556 (Fla. Sept. 11, 1997) (referring to defendant's mother as "either an extremely distraught concerned mother or . . . a blatant liar" was not error); Craig v. State, 510 So.2d 857, 865 (Fla. 1987) (calling the defendant a liar was not improper).

9. Lack of Remorse

As Urbin sets out in a quote from the record, the prosecutor used the word "remorse" twice in referring to Urbin. (Initial brief at 37, quoting X 1146-47). In <u>Pope v. State</u>, 441 So.2d 1073, 1078 (Fla. 1983), this Court stated that

henceforth lack of remorse should have no place in the consideration of aggravating factors. Any convincing evidence of remorse may properly be considered in mitigation of the sentence, but absence of remorse should not be weighed either as an aggravating factor

nor as an enhancement of an aggravating factor.

Later, however, this Court also stated that the prohibition on the state's presenting evidence of lack of remorse to aggravate a defendant's sentence "does not mean that the state is unable to present this evidence to rebut nonstatutory mitigating evidence of remorse presented by a defendant." Walton v. State, 547 So.2d 622, 625 (Fla. 1989), cert. denied, 493 U.S. 1036 (1990).

Just as Walton did, Urbin opened the door on remorse when he testified on direct that he was

very sorry that this happened. I don't even - I can't even imagine what the family, the victim's family is going through right now, the loss of Jason Hicks. And I am very sorry that I had anything to do with this. And if I could have done anything to change what happened, I would do it.

(X 1110). Immediately prior to this statement, however, Urbin denied killing the victim (X 1109-10) and, on cross-examination, admitted he never tried to express his alleged remorse. (X 1111-12). In fact, he denied having done anything. (X 1117).

As quoted by Urbin, the prosecutor told the jurors that lack of remorse was not an aggravator. Instead, he stated that the jury's responsibility was to analyze Urbin's character. These are correct statements of the law. Walton; Elledge v. State, 346 So.2d 998, 1001 (Fla. 1977) ("the purpose of considering aggravating and mitigating circumstances is to engage in a character analysis of the defendant to ascertain whether the ultimate penalty is called

for"); Stewart v. State, 558 So.2d 416, 419 (Fla. 1990) (same); Hildwin v. State, 531 So.2d 124, 129 (Fla. 1988) (same), aff'd, 490 U.S. 638 (1989). When placed in context, it is obvious that the prosecutor's mention of remorse was a fair comment on the evidence. Even if this Court were to find the prosecutor's brief reference to Urbin's lack of remorse in his thirty-some-page closing argument to be error, that error was harmless. Shellito; Wuornos.

10. Implying Urbin Could be Released

Urbin also complains about the prosecutor's pointing out that, although a life sentence would be without parole, "[w]e all know in the past laws have been changed. And we all know that in the future laws can change." (X 1147). This is little more than a common sense comment on the state of the law and could not have impermissibly influenced the jury. See Reese v. State, 694 So.2d 678 (Fla. 1997); Allen v. State, 662 So.2d 323 (Fla. 1995), cert. denied, 116 S.Ct. 1326 (1996); Parker v. State, 456 So.2d 436 (Fla. 1984); <u>Harris v. State</u>, 438 So.2d 787 (Fla. 1983), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 466 U.S. 963 (1984). Urbin's reliance on <u>Singer v. State</u>, 109 So.2d 7 (Fla. 1959), and Newlon v. Armontrout, 693 F.Supp. 799 (W.D. Wyo. 1988), aff'd, 885 F.2d 1328 (8th Cir. 1989), cert. denied, 497 U.S. 1038 (1990), is misplaced. In Singer the court reversed because of numerous prosecutorial comments that were not based on the evidence and that interjected personal concerns into In Newlon the court reversed because "the jury was the case.

subjected to a relentless, focused, uncorrected argument based on fear, premised on facts not in evidence, and calculated to remove reason and responsibility from the sentencing process." 693 F.Supp. at 808. The same cannot be said about this case. Urbin has failed to demonstrate fundamental error that would excuse his failure to object to the complained-about comment.

11. Reminding the Jury to Carry Out its Responsibility

The prosecutor told the jurors to weigh the aggravators and mitigators instead of just taking the easy way out and voting for life without considering the evidence presented at the penalty phase. (X 1151). This is merely a rephrasing of the weighing instructions given by the trial court (X 1163 et seq.) and in no way told those jurors that they had to vote a certain way. Even if this Court finds error in the prosecutor's choice of words, any error would be harmless.

12. <u>Victim Impact Argument</u>

Urbin complains that the prosecutor "eulogiz[ed]" the victim and that he "held out the victim's good character for comparison with the defense request for a life sentence." (Initial brief at 40). Victim impact evidence is admissible in Florida, e.g., Moore v. State, 22 Fla.L.Weekly S619 (Fla. October 2, 1997), and the purpose of a sentencing proceeding "is to engage in a character analysis of the defendant to ascertain whether the ultimate penalty

is called for." Stewart v. State, 558 So.2d 416, 419 (Fla. 1990) (quoting Elledge v. State, 346 So.2d 998, 1001 (Fla. 1997)); Hildwin v. State, 531 So.2d 124 (Fla. 1988), aff'd, 490 U.S. 638 (1989). The prosecutor's argument was fair comment. No fundamental error has been demonstrated. See Davis v. State, 22 Fla.L.Weekly S563 (Fla. Sept. 11, 1997); Consalvo v. State, 697 So.2d 805 (Fla. 1996); Sochor v. State, 619 So.2d 285 (Fla.), cert. denied, 510 U.S. 1025 (1993).

13. Showing Mercy to the Defendant

Finally, Urbin complains that the prosecutor asked the jury to show Urbin "the same amount of mercy, the same amount of pity that he showed Jason Hicks." (X 1152). Even if this were error, it was harmless. Richardson v. State, 604 So.2d 1107 (Fla. 1992).

Contrary to Urbin's contentions, the complained-about comments did not constitute fundamental error, either individually or collectively. Urbin objected to none of these comments and, by failing to demonstrate fundamental error, has failed to overcome the procedural bar caused by that lack of objection. This issue, therefore, should be summarily denied.

Issue II

WHETHER THE EVIDENCE SUPPORTS FINDING THE AVOID ARREST AGGRAVATOR.

Urbin argues that the trial court erred in finding that the avoid arrest aggravator applied in this case. There is no merit to this claim.

The trial court made the following findings as to this aggravator:

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